# COMPETITION COMPLIANCE

# Turkey



••• LEXOLOGY ••• Getting The Deal Through Consulting editor Winston & Strawn LLP

# **Competition Compliance**

**Consulting editors** 

#### **Peter Crowther**

Winston & Strawn LLP

Quick reference guide containing side-by-side comparison of local insights into Competition Compliance, including key legislation; standards and guidance for compliance programmes; how to demonstrate commitment to competition compliance; risk identification, assessment and mitigation; compliance programme review; managing risk in horizontal and vertical arrangements; market dominance; merger control; joint venture agreements; leniency programmes; investigations; settlement mechanisms; corporate monitorships; and recent trends.

#### Generated 20 April 2023

The information contained in this report is indicative only. Law Business Research is not responsible for any actions (or lack thereof) taken as a result of relying on or in any way using information contained in this report and in no event shall be liable for any damages resulting from reliance on or use of this information. © Copyright 2006 - 2023 Law Business Research



## Table of contents

#### LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

Key legislation Enforcement Consequences of non-compliance Guidance Other legislation and relevant practices

#### **COMPLIANCE PROGRAMMES**

Commitment to competition compliance Government compliance standards Risk identification Risk assessment Risk mitigation Compliance programme review Effect on penalties

#### HORIZONTAL DEALINGS

Arrangements with competitors Exchanging information Cartel behaviour Suggested precautions Exemptions and defences

#### **VERTICAL DEALINGS**

Vertical agreements Exemptions and defences

#### **DOMINANT POSITION**

Determining dominant market position Abuse of dominance Exemptions and defences

#### **MERGER CONTROL**

Competition authority approval Timing



Impact of merger clearance Exchanging information before completion Failure to file

#### JOINT VENTURES

Competition authority approval

Joint venture arrangements

#### LENIENCY

Leniency programmes

**Beneficiaries of leniency** 

#### INVESTIGATION

Commencement of investigation Limitation period Information-gathering powers Dawn raids Dawn raids – rights and obligations Refusal to cooperate

#### SETTLEMENT

Settlement mechanisms Impact of compliance programme Corporate monitorships Statements of facts

#### **UPDATE AND TRENDS**

**Recent developments and future reforms** 



### Contributors

#### Turkey



Caner K Çeşit caner.cesit@actecon.com ACTECON



Ertuğrul Can Canbolat ertugrul.canbolat@actecon.com ACTECON



Ulya Zeynep Tan ulya.tan@actecon.com ACTECON



Miraç Mert Karakaş mert.karakas@actecon.com ACTECON





#### LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

#### **Key legislation**

What key legislation governs competition in your jurisdiction?

Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law) has been in force since 1994 and governs competition law in Turkey. The Board of the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) has issued block exemption communications covering vertical restraints, research and development agreements, specialisation agreements and technology transfer agreements. Moreover, the motor vehicles and the insurance sectors have sector-specific block exemption communications. The TCA has published several regulations, communications and guidelines as well.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Enforcement

Which authorities are charged with enforcing competition law in your jurisdiction and what is the extent of their powers?

The TCA was established in 1997. The Board is the decision-making body of the TCA. The Board is vested with special powers to enforce the competition rules regarding restrictive practices, abuse of dominance and mergers as well as drafting and enacting secondary legislation (ie, regulations, communications and guidelines) as to the implementation of the Competition Law, providing opinions on amendments to be made to the legislation with regard to the competition law, and monitoring legislation, practices, policies and measures of the other countries concerning agreements and decisions limiting competition. The TCA can enforce against local and multinational undertakings.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Consequences of non-compliance**

What are the consequences of non-compliance with competition law?

As per article 16(3) of the Competition Law, undertakings, or associations of undertakings that commit behaviour prohibited in article 4 and 6 of the Competition Law (which are the equivalent of article 101(1) and 102 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union) can be subject to administrative fines of up to 10 per cent of annual gross revenue generated by the end of the financial year preceding the decision, or the financial year closest to the date of the decision if the previous year's results cannot be used. The fine is determined by the Board of the TCA.

Article 16(4) of the Competition Law provides that managers or employees of undertakings or associations of undertakings who are found to have had a decisive influence on the violation may be fined up to five per cent of the fine given to the infringer undertakings, or associations of undertakings, pursuant to article 16(3).

The Board takes the characteristics of the violation into account when determining the percentage of the fine to be imposed, and thus the consequences of an infringement depend on the facts of the specific behaviour. However, the Regulation on Fines to Apply in Cases of Agreements, Concerted Practices and Decisions Limiting Competition, and Abuse of Dominant Position set forth that the Board is entitled to impose a base fine of:

- between 2 per cent and 4 per cent for cartels; and
- between five per thousand and 3 per cent for other violations of the undertaking's turnover.



After reviewing the mitigating and aggravating factors, the Board is entitled to increase the fine's percentage up to a maximum 10 per cent of the company's turnover achieved within the previous year of the decision.

Mitigating factors include:

- providing assistance to the investigation of the violation beyond the fulfilment of legal obligations;
- that the undertaking was encouraged by public authorities or coerced by other undertakings into taking part in the violation;
- · the voluntary payment of damages to those harmed;
- · the termination of other violations; and
- the violation only affected a very small share within annual gross revenues.

Aggravating factors include:

- · recidivism of the violation;
- maintaining the cartel after the notification of the investigation decision;
- not satisfying the commitments made for the elimination of the competition problems within the scope of articles 4 or 6 of the Competition Law;
- providing no assistance with the investigation into the violation; and
- coercing other undertakings to take part in the violation.

In principle, the Board imposes fines on only companies participating in an infringement. The nature of proceedings is civil.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Guidance

Do the authorities issue guidance on compliance with competition law?

The TCA welcomes and encourages the competition compliance efforts of undertakings. A competition compliance programme (CCP) is regarded by the TCA as an indicator of good faith and stands out as an effective tool in complying with competition law.

In 2011, the TCA announced the standards for compliance programmes on its website through the document titled ' Competition Law Compliance Programme '. The document aims to provide undertakings with clarification to a certain extent on the issues and concepts of competition compliance, such as the purpose and scope of CCPs, checklists for compliance with competition legislation, the content of CCPs, corporate guides, training, regular assessment and monitoring of CCPs, and supportive practices. The document assists and provides insight to all undertakings in the process of developing their own CCPs. It has largely been inspired by EU competition law and provides advice to local businesses with structured requirements to ensure that their CCP is sound and workable. Guidelines, employee responsibility, a confidential hotline, sanctioning or rewarding mechanisms, and regular reporting are among the 'musthave' features listed in the document.



#### Other legislation and relevant practices

Do any other laws outside the main competition legislation regulate competition in your jurisdiction, including any sector-specific regimes? Do they cover any other anticompetitive practices not caught by the main legislation?

Regulations that apply to the regulated markets (eg, energy and telecommunications) do not definitively exclude the application of competition rules on possible anticompetitive behaviour in the event of sector-specific regulations and the competition rules overlapping. However, behaviour that contradicts sector-specific regulation will be analysed in the context of the sector-specific regulation, even if it is a conduct that can be investigated under the Competition Law. A behaviour arising from the requirements of another law may not be viewed as an infringement of the Competition Law.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **COMPLIANCE PROGRAMMES**

#### **Commitment to competition compliance**

How does a company demonstrate its commitment to competition compliance?

A company may demonstrate its commitment to competition compliance through the meaningful and effective implementation of a competition compliance programme (CCP) that contains the following procedures:

- the establishment of regular dawn raid simulations and training sessions for current and future employees;
- drawing up a general checklist for all employees or departments according to their position and workflow;
- · reviews and assessments of past and current practices in light of competition rules;
- the appointment of an in-house compliance officer or an external consultant responsible for the implementation of the CCP and allocation of the tasks;
- the receipt of written commitments from employees with regard to the fulfilment of their responsibilities in line with Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law);
- the adoption and implementation of disciplinary actions for employees' breaches of the Competition Law or the CCP;
- · competition law tests to measure the awareness of employees; and
- the execution of an incentive system (eg, a helpline or hotline) that encourages employees to inform the relevant person in charge, and rewards employees who contribute to the detection in advance and prevent a potential violation.

Furthermore, to increase their compliance levels, companies may prefer to design a technological infrastructure enabling them to detect communications that raise competition law concerns. The infrastructure may require a list of keywords that must be designed and updated in line with the structure of the relevant market.

In particular, the undertaking's management showing that the CCP and compliance have their complete support is a significant factor in developing a culture of compliance among team members.



#### Government compliance standards

Is there a government-approved standard for compliance programmes in your jurisdiction?

There is no government-approved standard for compliance programmes in Turkey.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Risk identification**

What are the key features of a compliance programme regarding risk identification?

The CCP helps in identifying risks (legal, financial and reputational) by outlining simple and clear 'dos and don'ts' lists for employees and management. Risk identification entails at least the following essential features:

- conducting market research, paying special attention to the recent decisions of the Board of the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA);
- familiarisation with the structure of the markets in which the company operates and the competition law concerns in those markets; and
- keeping track of past and current competition law investigations in Turkey and abroad.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Risk assessment

What are the key features of a compliance programme regarding risk assessment?

A risk assessment process would typically start with a meeting of the companies' management regarding the identification of risky areas that may be associated with the companies' practices. The following actions are also significant:

- the enhancement of communications with employees on the risks related to anticompetitive practices;
- a review of companies' agreements or practices (eg, exclusivities, pricing policies, non-compete obligations, duration and potential impact on the market);
- an assessment of companies' activities, along with their affiliates' practices and current and future business channels from the perspective of both the product and the territorial scope;
- categorisation of the identified risks in accordance with the priority level (ie, low, medium or high); and
- the preparation and presentation of a report focusing on the main findings and risk mitigation strategies.

An appointed compliance officer or an established compliance department should monitor and oversee the risk assessment process.

A company's method of handling findings that are deemed sensitive from a competition law perspective is key to this process as it indicates a company's devotion to its compliance efforts. The CCP documents published by the TCA encourage businesses to end infringing practices and notify the competent authorities.



#### **Risk mitigation**

What are the key features of a compliance programme regarding risk mitigation?

Risk mitigation typically involves monitoring, reporting and training protocols, namely:

- dawn raid simulations, which entail both a review of communications and a brief educational session for employees about how the TCA dawn raids can be dealt with;
- general competition law training, which includes, among other things, sector-specific examples of how competition rules may be encountered in daily practice;
- a CCP report, which consists of a strength, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats analysis; and
- a helpline or hotline through which employees may request advice from a competition law perspective and inform a person in charge of a potential violation.

Employees making written commitments to carry out their activities in compliance with the CCP may also be useful in increasing their awareness.

Furthermore, regular assessment of the compliance level by competition law consultants and updating of the CCP (eg, on the basis of amendments to the applicable laws and developments in the TCA's approach) are essential. The participation of the company's competition law consultants in the company's executive meetings or meetings of the association of which the company concerned is a member, or those including consultants' evaluations on the agenda of those meetings, will also be beneficial in minimising any risks associated with competition rules.

If the management becomes aware of a potential infringement of the competition rules, it should immediately end the violating practice, comprehensively assess the case and inform the TCA if necessary (a leniency application or full active cooperation with the TCA may be considered for eliminating or minimising the risk of facing a fine).

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Compliance programme review**

What are the key features of a compliance programme regarding monitoring and review of business practices?

A review encompasses features such as:

- assessing the level of competition law awareness of employees (eg, through monitoring employees' activities with or without a prior notice); and
- amending the CCP rules and procedures in line with developments in the competition law.

Regular simulations of dawn raids (particularly conducted without notice) by competition law consultants are essential in ensuring employees' compliance with competition rules and in assessing the established compliance culture.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Effect on penalties**



#### Will an established competition compliance programme have any effect on penalties?

The Regulation on Fines to Apply in Cases of Agreements, Concerted Practices and Decisions Limiting Competition, and Abuse of Dominant Position provides a non-exhaustive list of mitigating factors that apply to the assessment of a fine's amount. The implementation of a CCP is not listed among them. The TCA practice shows that, although CCPs are encouraged (and in some cases may be regarded as the undertaking's endeavour to act in compliance with competition law or accepted as a behavioural remedy in merger cases), the mere existence of a CCP cannot be regarded as the sole indicator of an undertaking's compliance with competition law. Moreover, as referred to in the Industrial Gas and Banking decisions, the TCA stated that the mere presence of a CCP does not constitute a mitigating factor in the determination of the amount of administrative monetary fines. Therefore, having a CCP will not de jure affect fines to be imposed by the TCA; however, a CCP may have a positive influence on the TCA in the course of its evaluations regarding the infringement allegation.

In its Eczacibaşi Baxter/Genzyme decision, for the contract which included Eczacibaşi's acquisition of the right to distribute a product belonging to Genzyme, it has been stated that within the framework of the CCP, to which Eczacibaşi Baxter was party aimed to audit competition law risks. Thus, according to the CCP, in order not to take legal risks, the application for negative clearance or exemption, which was the subject of the decision, was made. As a result, no significant fine was rendered. In its Unilever decision in 2012, the TCA showed a positive approach to Unilever's competition compliance efforts. During dawn raids as part of the investigation into alleged exclusivity practices in the ice cream market, the TCA found a document with reference to Unilever's CCP and regular competition law training. The existence and content of the document illustrated Unilever's endeavour to act in compliance with competition law, and to some extent served as grounds for the TCA's decision not to initiate a fully-fledged investigation. The TCA took similar approaches in its Efes decision in 2012 and its Frito Lay decision in 2013, emphasising that CCPs constitute one of the TCA's significant requirements, however, the mere existence of CCPs cannot be regarded as a sole indicator of an undertaking's compliance with competition rules.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### HORIZONTAL DEALINGS

#### Arrangements with competitors

How does competition law govern arrangements with competitors?

Arrangements between competitors are more likely to attract the attention of the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) regardless of their object or effect. Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law) prohibits agreements that restrict competition either by object or by effect. In this context, agreements are defined very broadly regardless of the form or whether the parties explicitly or tacitly agree. The most common examples of anticompetitive agreements are cartels involving setting prices, restricting output, allocating markets or customers, or bid rigging.

Additionally, the direct or indirect exchange of competitively sensitive information (such as sales conditions, pricing policies, customers, production levels, costs and capacity) is also considered to be in the scope of the aforementioned prohibition as it reduces or removes uncertainty regarding the current or future behaviour of competitors.

Therefore, any communication or business with a competitor shall carefully be carried with the assistance of competition law consultants of the undertaking concerned.



#### **Exchanging information**

Can a company exchange information with its competitors?

Exchanges of competitively sensitive information among rivals may be deemed anticompetitive under certain circumstances (undertakings carrying out such behaviour may also be considered to be cartelist, if their objective is to fix prices or quantities).

Commercial information (eg, prices, quantities, customers, costs, turnover, sales, purchases, capacities, product characteristics, marketing plans, risks, investments, technologies, and research and development programmes) is considered to be competitively sensitive. Exchanges of aggregated data (when it is sufficiently difficult to identify individual data of a particular undertaking) or historical data (as opposed to current or future data) are much less likely to lead to a competition concern.

An undertaking may exchange information with its competitors if the exchange leads to efficiency gains that are passed on to consumers and outweigh the restrictive effects on competition.

The framework for information exchange among competitors is also shaped by the many precedents of the TCA in different industries and forms. These detailed precedents are the outcome of negative clearance and exemption applications to the TCA (which have mostly been submitted by industry associations).

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Cartel behaviour

What form must behaviour take to constitute a cartel?

Cartels are normally defined as agreements restricting competition or concerted practices between competitors involving fixing prices, allocating customers, providers, territories or trade channels, restricting the amount of supply or imposing quotas, and bid rigging (as listed under the Regulation on Fines and the Leniency Regulation).

According to the Guidelines on Horizontal Cooperation Agreements by the TCA, the exchange of competitively sensitive information among rivals (eg, prices, output or sale amounts) is also generally considered as cartel conduct if this action is aimed at fixing prices, quantities or both. On the other hand, there are precedents whereby the exchange of such information was not deemed to be cartel conduct and was categorised under other infringements.

In practice, cartels are very unlikely to be formed in writing. Any act or concerted action between competitors preventing or restricting competition, including any (even unsuccessful) attempts to run a cartel shall be regarded as a cartel if there is sufficient evidence of a solid intention to commit to the action. The issue of whether an anticompetitive agreement has (fully or partially) been implemented may only be relevant in determining the gravity of the fines to be imposed on the parties, rather than whether article 4 of Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law) has been violated.

To give an example, the TCA maintained its previous stance by imposing fines on Turkey's five largest supermarket chains and a supplier, amounting to a historic total of 2.7 billion lira in 2021. Following this, an additional investigation was launched against the supermarkets, producers/suppliers, and retailers operating in the fast-moving consumer goods sector, resulting in a collective fine of 878.6 million lira. The fine was imposed on 13 entities for engaging in either hub-and-spoke cartel activities, resale price maintenance, or both. Although the previous five supermarket chains were found to have violated the Competition Law, they were not subject to the fine under the ne bis in idem principle.

In recent years, there has been a growing belief that employers' market power in labour markets is responsible for suppressing wages or causing them to decline, and for maintaining working conditions below competitive levels.



Specifically, employers prevent employee transfers between companies through direct or indirect agreements, thereby depriving workers of opportunities to seek higher wages and better conditions elsewhere. Consequently, the competitive structure in the labour market may be undermined by reduced labour mobility across firms or by artificially limiting workers' ability to earn fair wages for the work they perform.

Parallel to this, the TCA has initiated another investigation against seven IT companies to determine whether they have engaged in gentleman's agreements in the labour market, building upon its previous efforts in 2021 where it launched an inquiry against 48 companies for similar concerns.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Suggested precautions

What precautions can be taken to manage competition law risk when the company enters into an arrangement with a competitor?

The following precautions may be taken:

- informing the internal compliance officer in charge or external competition law consultants;
- reviewing and assessing the concerned arrangement from a competition law perspective;
- avoiding exchanges of sensitive information when attending any meeting with competitors (especially without a pre-examination of the agenda);
- preparing meeting notes and clearly identifying the issues that have been discussed with competitors;
- · assessing the level of the risk associated with the concerned arrangement; and
- applying to the TCA for negative clearance or an exemption.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Exemptions and defences**

What exemptions, defences or other circumstances will allow otherwise anticompetitive agreements with competitors to escape sanction?

Cartels may be exempted from sanctions following the leniency application if certain conditions under the Leniency Regulation are satisfied. In those cases, the lenient party may benefit either from full immunity or from a reduction in fines.

Applying for leniency is possible until the investigation report by the TCA is served. The first undertaking to submit its application along with the evidence disclosing a cartel, before the investigation report is served, may benefit from full immunity unless the applicant coerced other undertakings to participate in the cartel. All subsequent applicants for leniency may only benefit from a reduction in fines. In this context, active cooperation with the TCA should last until its final decision and, thus, is indispensable.

Accordingly, the leniency applicant shall:

- immediately end its involvement in the cartel (except when the case team on the ground requests otherwise, for example, if detecting the cartel would be complicated);
- submit information and evidence in respect of the cartel, including:
- all types of books, documents, information and other resources that may be used to substantiate the meetings concerning the cartel, including invoices, notes, organisers, meeting minutes, internal and external letters, travel records, reports, working texts tables, electronic records, computer printouts, credit card statements, and



detailed phone records; and

- products affected by the cartel, duration of the cartel, names of the undertakings participating in the cartel, dates, locations and the participants of cartel meetings;
- · keep its application confidential;
- · actively cooperate with the TCA throughout the entire procedure and in line with the TCA's instructions; and
- not conceal or destroy information or evidence related to the alleged cartel.

In terms of the individual exemption, the arrangement between competitors must:

- 1. ensure new developments and improvements, or economic or technical development in the production or distribution of goods and in the provision of services;
- 2. ensure consumers must also benefit from them;
- 3. not eliminate competition in a significant part of the relevant market; and
- 4. not limit competition by more than what is required for achieving the goals set out in (1) and (2).

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### VERTICAL DEALINGS

#### Vertical agreements

How does competition law govern vertical arrangements with commercial partners?

Article 4 of Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law) is the equivalent of article 101(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. It sets forth the main rules governing the horizontal and vertical relations between the undertakings and prohibits any agreement, decision and practice preventing, distorting or restricting competition in the relevant markets. Vertical agreements mean agreements concluded between two or more undertakings operating at different levels of the production or distribution chain, with the aim of purchasing, selling or reselling particular goods or services.

Resale price maintenance and online sales ban raise the biggest risks of non-compliance with the Competition Law. The Guidelines on Vertical Agreements contains explanations regarding vertical restraints.

The TCA examined 25 files concerning vertical concerns, and one which additionally had horizontal concerns as well. One of the noteworthy investigations was one that was initiated against Digiturk, a paid television broadcaster, to determine if they violated articles 4 and 6 of the Competition Law by imposing vertical restrictions on their resellers and abusing their dominant position in the market for paid television broadcasting of Turkish Super League and First League matches. Although Digiturk was not found to have abused its dominant position, the TCA found that the undertaking violated article 4 of the Competition Law by restricting sellers from conducting active and passive sales outside their allocated regions. Consequently, Digiturk was fined 7 million lira.

In another decision rendered following an investigation re-initiated upon a judicial decision, the TCA found that Duru Bulgur violated article 4 of the Competition Law by engaging in resale price maintenance, resulting in an administrative monetary fine of nearly 4.5 million lira. The decision is noteworthy as it sheds light on the TCA's approach to assessing resale price maintenance, whether it follows a 'rule of reason' analysis or views such practices as per se violations.

Vertical restraints in agency agreements may not restrict competition in case necessary conditions are satisfied. Since the limitations placed on the agency concerning the agreements it mediates or concludes on behalf of its client are not generally under the scope of article 4 of the Competition Law, they are, in principle, not a subject of the exemption regime. The fact that the agreement signed is called an agency agreement does not, by itself, mean that the agreement in question is not covered by article 4 of the Competition Law. In this situation, the factor which determines whether or



not the relationship between the undertakings falls under article 4 of the Competition Law is whether the agency takes a commercial or financial risk in relation to the activities assigned to it by its client. In case the agency does not assume any financial or commercial risks due to the agreement it concludes or mediates, then the relationship between the agency and its client is beyond the scope of article 4 of the Competition Law. In such a case, the buying or selling activities of the agency is considered part of its client's activities. The client undertaking, as a result of the agency service it receives, will gain the right to determine the economic activities of the agency in this area, in exchange for taking the financial and commercial risks. In the opposite situation, the agency undertakes all of those risks itself and therefore would need to freely set its own marketing strategy in order to ensure a return of its investments. Under those circumstances, the agreement in question may fall under article 4 of the Competition Law and may be assessed under the Communiqué.

Agency contracts generally also include provisions which regulate the relationship between the agency and the client. These agreements can include restrictions which prevent the client from appointing another agency for the relevant transactions at the customer or regional level (exclusive agency clause) or prevent the agency from serving as an agency or distributor for competing undertakings (non-competition clause). An exclusive agency clause only concerns intra-brand competition and does not generally lead to anti-competitive effects. However non-competition obligations, including those related to the period following the termination of the agreement, concern inter-brand competition and may lead to anti-competitive effects if they create a foreclosure effect in the relevant market where the contracted goods and services are being sold; as a result, this provision may fall under article 4 of the Competition Law.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Exemptions and defences**

What exemptions, defences or other circumstances will allow otherwise anticompetitive vertical agreements or restrictions to escape sanction?

Vertical agreements, which enable undertakings to establish the production and distribution process in the best possible way and which, as a result, ensure an increase in inter-brand competition in the market, are among the main groups of agreements that should be exempt from the prohibition of article 4 of the Competition Law. Vertical arrangements may be exempted from sanctions if they fall within the scope of one of the relevant block exemption communications, namely those on vertical agreements, research and development agreements, vertical agreements and concerted practices in the motor vehicles sector, and technology transfer agreements. Alternatively, an individual assessment of the exemption under article 5 of the Competition Law shall be conducted.

In terms of the individual exemption, the arrangement must:

- 1. ensure new developments and improvements, or economic or technical development in the production or distribution of goods and in the provision of services;
- 2. ensure consumers must also benefit from them;
- 3. not eliminate competition in a significant part of the relevant market; and
- 4. not limit competition by more than what is required for achieving the goals set out in (1) and (2).

If there is uncertainty on which of the exemptions could be granted, it is highly recommended to approach the TCA to avoid any risk of being fined. The TCA published in November 2021 its Communiqué No. 2021/4 on the Amendments on the Block Exemption Communiqué (No. 2002/2) for Vertical Agreements which narrowed the vertical block exemption's scope. The vertical block exemption regime exempts certain vertical agreements from the scope of article 4 of the Competition Law depending on (1) the lack of hardcore restrictions and (2) the supplier's or buyer's market share. The previous version of vertical block exemption would apply on the condition that the market share held by the



supplier does not exceed 40 per cent of the relevant market on which it sells the goods or services. The limit of 40 per cent was lowered to 30 per cent. Besides that, for vertical agreements that provide for exclusive supply obligations, the exemption will apply as the market share held by the buyer does not exceed 30 per cent of the relevant market on which it purchases the contract goods or services. Since this amendment will deprive undertakings that have a market share between 30 per cent and 40 per cent in the relevant market from the security provided by the previous legislation, the TCA will grant these undertakings a transition period of six months.

There is no obligatory prior notification mechanism regarding vertical agreements in Turkey.

In its decision in 2017, the TCA fined Booking.com approximately 2.5 million lira for violating the Competition Law for its 'best price guarantee' and wide most-favoured-nation (MFN) practices. It was found that agreements (particularly MFN clauses) concluded between Booking.com and accommodation facilities were outside the scope of the Block Exemption Communiqué on Vertical Agreements, owing to the market share threshold. An individual exemption could not be granted either as the practices did not meet the exemption conditions set out by article 5 of the Competition Law. A recent decision in 2022, which provided an exemption to a vertical restriction, concerned Altıparmak's, a honey products supplier, exclusive patent licence agreement with Easysnap. The agreement was found to exclude competitors from the market and thus constituted a breach of article 4 of the Competition Law. While a block exemption was found inapplicable since the thresholds stipulated under the Block Exemption Communiqué on Vertical Agreements was not satisfied, an individual exemption with respect to article 5 of the Competition Law was granted.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **DOMINANT POSITION**

#### Determining dominant market position

Which factors does your jurisdiction apply to determine whether a company holds a dominant market position?

The following factors are applied by the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) to determine if a company holds a dominant position:

- the market shares of the undertaking concerned and its competitors (the TCA's established practice is to consider undertakings with less than 40 per cent of the market share as less likely to be dominant);
- · barriers to entry and expansion in the relevant market;
- · legal and administrative barriers;
- · economic barriers;
- barriers stemming from the characteristics of the undertaking in question (eg, possession of key inputs and access to special information);
- conduct in the market (eg, large-scale investments, which existing or potential competitors would have to match); and
- buying power.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Abuse of dominance

If the company holds a dominant market position, what forms of behaviour constitute abuse of market dominance?

The following behaviour may constitute abuse of market dominance:



- · excessive or predatory pricing and complicating competitors' activities via pricing policy;
- price or margin squeezing;
- tying;
- exclusivity rebates;
- · exclusivity or single branding arrangements;
- · applying dissimilar conditions to equivalent transactions with other trading parties, thereby discriminating;
- · limiting production, markets or technical development to the prejudice of consumers;
- · restricting or cutting off the supply of goods to customers or competitors without reasonable grounds;
- preventing other undertakings from entering into the market and complicating their activities in the market by using financial, technological or IP superiority in a market; and
- most-favoured customer (MFC) practices.

This list is not exhaustive. The basis of the evaluation by the TCA in this respect is whether the behaviour of the dominant undertaking leads to actual or potential anticompetitive foreclosure.

The TCA's decision taken in 2016 in relation to the popular Turkish online food-ordering platform Yemeksepeti stated that the undertaking abused its dominant position because of its MFC clauses, which prevented competitors from providing better or different conditions (eg, prices, discounts, promotions, menus, payment options and delivery regions), as well as preventing advertisements of competing platforms by offering promotions to restaurants in return for refusing to work with competing platforms. The undertaking was fined 427,977 lira and was ordered to remove MFC clauses from the agreements.

The TCA's decision taken in 2017 in relation to the raki (a traditional alcoholic drink) producer Mey İçki is another example of abuse of dominance. Providing financial benefits in relation to the shelf positioning and product layout of the raki category within the traditional channel sales points and loyalty rebates, in addition to other practices, were deemed as exclusionary. The company was fined 155,782,969 lira, corresponding to 4.2 per cent of Mey İçki's turnover. The decision lists in detail a number of actions that the dominant company needs to undertake or refrain from.

The TCA determined another abuse of dominance in 2017 in relation to the branded sunglasses wholesaler Luxottica. Luxottica was fined 1,672,647 lira for abuse of dominance through rebate practices foreclosing the market to its competitors.

The TCA published its decision in February 2018 in relation to the electricity sector and imposed a total fine of 38 million lira on the following undertakings for abuse of dominance.

In its decision of 1 October 2018, the TCA fined Sahibinden.com (an online platform service provider) 10,680,425.98 lira for abuse of dominance via excessive pricing in the markets for online platform services for real estate sales and rentals and online platform services for vehicle sales. However, this decision was annulled by the Sixth Chamber of Ankara Administrative Court on the basis that the TCA should conduct a thorough analysis of the substitutability, the market structure, the level of competition in the digital markets and welfare standards as well as the cost price. The Court further referred to the Council of State with regard to the standard of proof and emphasised that any violation should be based on proof that is explicit and beyond any doubt.

The TCA delivered two abuse of dominance decisions that are both related to the economic integrity comprising Google LLC, Google International LLC and Google Reklamcılık ve Pazarlama Ltd Şti (Google). In its Android decision in September 2018, the TCA imposed an administrative fine amounting to 93,083,422.30 lira on the basis that Google abused its dominant position by tying Android with its search and WebView services as well as concluding agreements (revenue share agreements) with device manufacturers to incentivise the exclusive usage of those services. Google was also required to comply with a set of obligations to end Google's anticompetitive conduct within six months. Subsequently, Google made two submissions (a general draft of the measures to be taken to eliminate the infringing conducts and a compliance package); however, the TCA concluded in its decision on 7 November 2019 that Google's



compliance package was not sufficient for the fulfilment of its obligations and to be fully compliant with competition rules. Accordingly, the TCA decided to impose a daily fine of 0.05 per cent of the tech company's turnover generated in Turkey, starting from the end of the six-month period. Google was obliged to pay daily fines until it meets all the obligations fully. In this context, Google submitted a revised compliance package, which has been deemed sufficient to meet the obligations referred to in the Android decision. That said, the TCA has not refrained from imposing a daily fine for the period between 7 November 2019 and 6 January 2020 (60 days) in its decision of 9 January 2020.

In its decision in February 2020, the TCA decided to impose an administrative fine amounting to more than 98 million lira on Google for its abuse of its dominant position in the general search services market and comparison-shopping market by placing its competitors' shopping comparison services in a disadvantaged position, complicating the activities of its competitors, and distorting competition in the shopping comparison services market.

In 2021, Unilever was fined of approximately 480 million lira for creating a de facto exclusivity by preventing the sale of competing products at its final sale points which resulted in the violation of article 4 and article 6 of Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law). Since Unilever has a dominant position in the industrial ice cream, impulse ice cream and take-home ice cream markets, by using a discount system, imposing a non-compete obligation previously prohibited by the TCA and imposing an exclusivity clause in the loan agreements regarding the use of Unilever freezers, Unilever abused its dominant position.

In 2022, the TCA finalised its investigation into NadirKitap, a popular platform service in Turkey that specialises in the sale of second-hand books. The investigation was initiated on the grounds that NadirKitap abused its dominant position by not providing data about member sellers who wished to market their products through competing broker service providers, thereby complicating competitors' activities. Following the investigation, the TCA found that NadirKitap was in a dominant position and had abused its dominance by preventing access to and portability of book data uploaded to its website by sellers. Consequently, an administrative fine of nearly 347 thousand lira was imposed on NadirKitap.

Furthermore, the TCA also imposed a fine of 346 million lira on Meta Platforms for violating competition rules. Meta Platforms was found to have abused its dominant position in personal social networking services and online video advertising by obstructing competitors through data collected from its core services Facebook, Instagram, and WhatsApp.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Exemptions and defences**

What exemptions, defences or other circumstances will allow a dominant company's otherwise abusive conduct to escape sanction?

In the application of article 6 of the Competition Law, the TCA will take into consideration any claims put forward by a dominant undertaking that its conduct is justified. Claims of justification examined by the TCA may be classified under the categories of objective necessity and efficiency.

When assessing an objective necessity justification, the TCA will first see whether the conduct protects a legitimate benefit and whether the conduct is indispensable for achieving the relevant benefit. As well, in order to consider the examined conduct objectively necessary, this conduct of the dominant undertaking must be caused by external factors (such as health and safety requirements set out by relevant public authorities) and the undertaking must not restrict competition more than necessary when protecting the benefit in question. The burden of proof for demonstrating that the conduct under examination is indispensable for protecting a legitimate benefit lies with the dominant undertaking.

The TCA granted an individual exemption under article 5 of the Competition Law for the extension of the Broadcasting Rights Agreement between the Turkish Football Federation and Krea for the 2022–2023 and 2023–2024 football



seasons, where all the criteria for an individual exemption was met. Krea was found to be in a dominant position, and this has also been reviewed while assessing the case; however, it was ultimately concluded that Krea's dominant position does not amount to market foreclosure. The TCA highlighted the benefits of the central sales system in enhancing the negotiation power of football clubs and preventing asymmetrical revenues, which contributes to the development and financing of professional football.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **MERGER CONTROL**

#### **Competition authority approval**

Does the company need to obtain approval from the competition authority for mergers and acquisitions? Is it mandatory or voluntary to obtain approval before completion?

The Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) must be notified of concentrations between undertakings that will lead to a lasting change of control and that exceed certain turnover thresholds. 'Control', which could be acquired on a de jure or de facto basis, is defined as the possibility of exercising decisive influence on an undertaking through rights, agreements or any other means. Recently the TCA amended its merger legislation and the turnover thresholds have been modified. In fact, on 4 March 2022, the TCA issued the Communiqué No. 2022/2 which modified the Communiqué No. 2010/4. With the introduction of the Communiqué No. 2022/2, the new thresholds are as follows:

- the aggregate Turkish turnover of the transaction parties exceeding 750 million Turkish lira and the Turkish turnover of at least two of the transaction parties each exceeding 250 million Turkish lira; or
- the asset or business subject to acquisition in acquisition transactions, and at least one of the parties of the transaction in merger transactions have a turnover in Turkey exceeding 250 million Turkish lira and the other party of the transactions has a global turnover exceeding three billion Turkish lira.

In addition to the new thresholds the TCA introduced an exception to these notification thresholds for the acquisitions of 'technology undertakings' according to which 'the TRY 250 million thresholds that are mentioned under (a) and (b) in the first paragraph, is not applicable in the acquisitions of technology undertakings that (i) are active or (ii) have R&D activities, in the Turkish geographic market or (iii) that provide services to customers in Turkey'. Technology undertakings are defined as undertakings active in areas of digital platforms, software and gaming software, financial technologies, biotechnology, pharmacology, agrochemicals and health technologies. Since the article specifically refers to the '250 million thresholds', for the transaction to be notifiable, we are of the opinion that the turnover of the acquirer will be checked to see whether it exceeds the '750 million Turkish turnover' threshold in (a) or the '3 billion global turnover' threshold in (b).

Following recent amendments that established lower notification thresholds for technology undertakings that are active or engaged in R&D activities in the Turkish geographic market or that offer services to customers in Turkey, the TCA concluded that several transactions were subject to authorisation under the new rules. The TCA cleared these transactions on the basis that they did not lead to a significant impediment to effective competition. For instance, in the acquisition of Airties by P8 Holding, the TCA determined that Airties is considered a technology undertaking due to the software services it provides. Therefore, the acquisition was subject to authorisation under the new rules. However, the TCA cleared the transaction as it did not lead to a significant impediment to effective competition. In its latest Berkshire Hathaway decision, the TCA resolved that the exception brought by the recent amendment for the technology undertakings to the merger control thresholds, shall be applicable, even if the activities of the target undertaking, which can be classified to fall under the definition of technology undertaking, are carried out in other geographical markets than Turkey. The interpretation taken in the Berkshire Hathaway decision would mean that in



an M&A transaction, as long as the target has some activities in areas of digital platforms, software and gaming software, financial technologies, biotechnology, pharmacology, agrochemicals and health technologies anywhere in the globe and is also active in Turkey through any market or means (ie, even if the activities in Turkey would not constitute a technology undertaking as a stand-alone business), the undertaking would be considered a technology undertaking operating in Turkey and the thresholds should be assessed in line with the exception.

The average buying exchange rate of the Central Bank of Turkey for the financial year in which the turnover is generated is taken into consideration in the calculation of the turnover.

For the purpose of calculating turnovers, transactions executed between the same persons, parties or undertakings or by the same undertaking in the same relevant product market (creeping acquisitions) are considered to constitute a single transaction if they are realised within three years.

The calculation of turnovers must be based on net sales; however, there are specific rules regarding the calculation of financial institutions' turnovers, including banks and insurance, factoring and financial leasing companies. The parties to the concentration or their representatives can file the notification jointly or separately. If separately, the notifying party must inform the other party a notification has been issued.

Finally, the notification form regarding mergers and acquisitions has been rearranged to be converted into electronic format. With this arrangement, it is planned to significantly reduce the stationery burden in notifications consisting of written forms and comprehensive annexes, but also to complete the missing information identified in the notifications and requested by the TCA in a more practical and rapid manner through the same electronic platform, and to shorten the permit process for undertakings. The second fundamental change in the notification form is that the information requested in the form is classified under the headings of transaction-related information, information about the parties, information about the market and joint ventures. By bringing together related information, the aim is that the notifying parties complete the necessary information in a more systematic way, and on the other hand, the TCA experts who will evaluate the form will more easily identify the information they are looking for. Finally, some requested information is detailed in order to make the notification complete and thus shorten the permit process. Footnotes and explanations are included where necessary in order to ensure that the parties making the notification can complete the form in the desired manner and level.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Timing

#### How long does it normally take to obtain approval?

The TCA review procedure consists of two stages: a preliminary review (Phase I) and an investigation (Phase II).

Phase I consists of a preliminary review that lasts one to two months. The Board of the TCA may either approve the concentration or order further investigation into the transaction at the end of Phase I. Following receiving the notification, the TCA will begin a preliminary examination within 15 calendar days, after which it will decide to clear the transaction or to further examine its possible effects by initiating a Phase II investigation. Within the 15-calendar day period, the TCA may request information from the transaction parties or third parties. The 15-calendar day period restarts following the receipt of the requested information.

If the Board does not issue a notification about its decision nor take any action with regard to the notified transaction within 30 calendar days of the notification date, it is considered to have implicitly approved the transaction.

A Phase II investigation is initiated if the notified transaction would result in a significant reduction of effective competition within a market for goods or services in the entirety or a portion of Turkey, particularly in the form of creating or strengthening a dominant position. A notification that a Phase II review is to be carried out is sent to the parties involved within 15 calendar days following such a decision. The parties then have 30 calendar days to submit



their first written defence. The TCA must issue its Phase II report within six months (which is extendable for another six months) after initiating a Phase II investigation. In practice, the TCA generally issues Phase II reports within the first six months.

After receiving a Phase II report, parties have 30 calendar days (extendable by 30 calendar days) to submit a second written defence. The TCA issues its additional opinion within 15 days (extendable by 15 calendar days) of receiving the second written defence. The parties may respond to the additional opinion within 30 calendar days (extendable by 30 calendar days), and this closes the investigation stage. Unless an oral hearing is held, the Board renders its decision within 30 calendar days from the conclusion of the investigation stage. The Board generally decides whether a Phase II transaction shall be cleared or not within a year of a transaction being notified of the investigation. In this regard, the best timing for filing a notification depends on the specific circumstances and conditions of the transaction.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Impact of merger clearance

Does merger clearance by the authority constitute confirmation that the terms in the documents comply with competition law?

The TCA's clearance also covers ancillary restrictions that are proportionate, directly related and necessary for the concentration, and only restrict the parties involved (eg, non-compete, confidentiality and non-solicitation clauses). If, following the clearance, the restraints are found not to be directly related and necessary, the company concerned may face an investigation.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Exchanging information before completion

Are there limits on the information that can be exchanged with the other party before completion of a merger?

Although there is no specific limitation, the sharing of competitively sensitive information before approval might be considered an element of gun-jumping. Therefore, the parties should avoid exchanging detailed information between themselves.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Failure to file

What are the consequences for failure to file, delay in filing and incomplete filing? Have there been any notable recent cases?

The amount of an administrative fine for failing to file or delaying in filing varies depending on whether the transaction is found to result in a significant reduction of effective competition within a market for goods or services in the entirety or a portion of the country, particularly in the form of creating or strengthening a dominant position. If the result is a significant reduction, a fine of up to 10 per cent of the turnover generated by the end of the preceding fiscal year is issued. If there is no significant reduction, a fine of 0.1 per cent of the turnover generated by the end of the preceding fiscal year is issued.

If the TCA is not notified of a transaction that is subject to its authorisation and it violates article 7 of the Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition, the Board of the TCA will order the concerned transaction to be terminated and the



situation prior to the transaction to be restored. In this regard, the Board is empowered to:

- order the return of all the seized assets within a certain time period or, if this is not possible, the assignment and transfer to third parties of the seized assets;
- prohibit the acquiring persons from taking part in the management of the acquired undertakings until the assignment of the seized assets; and
- take any other measure deemed necessary.

The fine is imposed on both parties in mergers and on the acquirer in acquisitions. In transactions in which a joint venture is established, all parties are deemed as acquirers, and fines are imposed accordingly.

Examples of the TCA's decisions with regard to the closing of the transaction before the submission of notification or failure to do so are as follows:

- Total/Cepsa decision in 2006;
- CVR Inc/Inco Ltd decision in 2007;
- Tekno İnşaat decision in 2012;
- DSG European Investment Ltd decision in 2013;
- Labelon Group/A-Tex Holding decision in 2016;
- · Johnson Controls International plc/Brookfield Asset Management Inc. decision in 2020;
- the creation of IONITY Holding GmbH & Co KG by BMW AG, Daimler AG, Ford Motor Company and Dr Ing hc F Porsche Aktiengesellschaft decision in 2020;
- · AIF/SIBUR decision in 2021; and
- Elon R Musk/Twitter decision in 2023.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **JOINT VENTURES**

#### **Competition authority approval**

Are joint ventures required to seek clearance from the competition authority?

The formation of a joint venture that would permanently fulfil all of the functions of an independent economic entity constitutes an acquisition transaction, and the undertakings involved are required to seek clearance for the transaction from the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) if the relevant turnover thresholds will be exceeded.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Joint venture arrangements

When will joint venture arrangements fall within the scope of competition law?

The full-functionality criterion is the basic requirement for the application of the Communiqué Concerning the Mergers and Acquisitions Calling for the Authorization of the Competition Board on joint ventures established by the parties in cases where the joint venture is created as a greenfield operation or the parties contribute assets to the joint venture which they previously owned individually. In other words, in these circumstances, the joint venture must fulfil the fullfunctionality criterion in order to constitute a transaction under article 7 of Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law). In order to be considered full-function, a joint venture must have the following characteristics:



- · have sufficient resources to operate independently;
- the ability to undertake activities beyond one specific function for the parents;
- · independence from the parent companies in sales and purchase activities; and
- operate on a lasting basis.

A non-full-function joint venture agreement might be considered to be under the scope of article 4 of the Competition Law (article 4 is the equivalent of article 101(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union).

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### LENIENCY

#### Leniency programmes

Is a leniency programme available to companies or individuals who participate in a cartel or other anticompetitive conduct in your jurisdiction?

A cartelist may be exempted from sanctions following an undertaking's application for leniency if certain conditions under the Regulation on Active Cooperation for Detecting Cartels (the Leniency Regulation) are satisfied. In those cases, the lenient party may benefit either from full immunity or from a reduction in fines.

A leniency application may be made at any time before the investigation report by the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) is served. The first undertaking to submit its application along with the evidence disclosing a cartel, before the investigation report is served, may benefit from full immunity unless it coerced other undertakings into participating in the cartel. All subsequent applicants for leniency only benefit from a reduction in fines. In this context, an undertaking should actively cooperate with the TCA until the authority's final decision is made, thus making it indispensable.

Accordingly, the leniency applicant should:

- immediately end its involvement in the cartel (except when the assigned unit on the ground requests otherwise, for example, if detecting the cartel would be complicated);
- submit information and evidence in respect of the cartel, including:
  - all types of books, documents, information and other resources that may be used to substantiate the meetings concerning the cartel, including invoices, notes, organisers, meeting minutes, internal and external letters, travel records, reports, working texts, tables, electronic records, computer printouts, credit card statements and detailed phone records; and
  - products affected by the cartel, duration of the cartel, names of the undertakings participating in the cartel, dates, locations and the participants of cartel meetings;
- · keep its application confidential;
- · actively cooperate with the TCA throughout the entire procedure and follow the TCA's instructions; and
- not conceal or destroy information or evidence related to the alleged cartel.

Any leniency application must be submitted before the settlement application. If both leniency and settlement applications are accepted, the parties may benefit from both discounts. The Beypazarı and Kınık decisions of 2022 are noteworthy as they marked the first example of leniency and settlement procedures being applied together. In this regard, the undertakings received reductions under both procedures.



#### **Beneficiaries of leniency**

Can the company apply for leniency for itself and its individual officers and employees?

As stated under the Guidelines on Active Cooperation, in the case of an application by an undertaking, all managers and employees of the applicant who admit to the existence of the infringement and enter into active cooperation may benefit under the Regulation. Therefore, it is not necessary for an undertaking to submit a list of managers and employees who can benefit from immunity from or a reduction in fines.

Accordingly, there are no barriers for previous managers and employees benefiting from an application filed by an undertaking that was their employer.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### INVESTIGATION

#### **Commencement of investigation**

How is an investigation into a suspected breach of competition law started?

Within 10 days following the case team submitting a preliminary inquiry report to the Board of the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA), the Board convenes in order to evaluate the information obtained and make a decision and decides on whether or not to open an investigation. If the Board decides that an investigation shall be conducted, it designates the rapporteur or rapporteurs who shall conduct the investigation under the supervision of the head of the department concerned. The TCA notifies the parties concerned of the investigation within 15 days of issuing the decision of the initiation of an investigation and requests that the parties submit their first written pleas within 30 days. In order to initiate the first written plea period granted to the parties, the TCA is required to send this notification letter to the parties concerned, accompanied by adequate information as to the type and nature of the claims.

Please note that the TCA may order a full-fledged investigation without conducting a preliminary inquiry.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Limitation period

What are the limitation periods for investigation of competition infringements?

As competition law infringements are classified as misdemeanours, the Turkish Misdemeanor Act's eight-year limitation period applies.

On the other hand, the TCA must conclude investigations within six months. If it is deemed necessary, the TCA may grant a six-month extension, on a one-time-only basis.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Information-gathering powers

What powers does the competition authority have to gather information?

The TCA has the following information-gathering powers.

#### **Requests for information**



The TCA may send requests for information (RFIs) to undertakings under investigation, other undertakings or public institutions to collect additional information regarding the investigated undertakings' activities or regarding the sector in general. It is crucial to respond correctly and properly to these RFIs since these answers will have an influence on the TCA's opinion and evaluation. In case incomplete, false or misleading information or document is provided, or information or document is not provided within the specified time or at all, the Board shall impose on undertakings an administrative fine by 0.1 per cent of annual gross revenue of undertakings which generated by the end of the financial year preceding the decision and which would be determined by the Board.

#### Conducting dawn raids

The TCA has the right to conduct dawn raids on the undertakings' premises to obtain further information over the investigated matter. Overseeing the inspections and managing this process should be carried out carefully to prevent misunderstandings and fines that may arise from hindering the dawn raids (by 0.5 per cent of their gross revenue).

#### Evaluating additional comments by the undertakings

Undertakings may submit additional comments and arguments to the TCA's attention, where necessary, with a view to providing them with a clear picture of the matter under scrutiny. Additional comments are particularly important to prevent misunderstandings that may negatively affect the TCA's opinion over the investigated matters, as well as the collected documents.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Dawn raids

For what types of infringement will the competition authority launch a dawn raid? Are there any specific procedural rules for dawn raids?

The TCA frequently carries out dawn raids regardless of the nature of the alleged infringement. Unannounced on-site inspections are used both at the pre-investigation and investigation stages.

The TCA may search the premises of the undertaking subject to investigation. The TCA officials do not need authorisation from a court, but they must obtain authorisation from the TCA's president defining the scope of the investigation. An administrative fine will be imposed if incorrect information is provided or the inspection is obstructed. Authorisation from the court is required only if the undertaking concerned refuses to allow the dawn raid.

The TCA's officials may, under article 15 of Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law):

- · enter the undertakings' premises and means of transport;
- · access electronic devices, such as computers, mobile phones and laptops;
- examine and take copies of the books and other business records; and
- ask any representative or employee for explanations about facts or documents.

The Guidelines on the Examination of Digital Data during On-Site Inspections explains the procedure to be applied during the examination process for digital data.



#### Dawn raids - rights and obligations

#### What are the company's rights and obligations during a dawn raid?

During a dawn raid, an undertaking is obliged to allow the TCA officials to access the premises and conduct the examination if a formal decision is made by the TCA. There is no such obligation in the absence of a formal decision, and the undertaking concerned may refuse the inspection without specifying any particular reason. If the undertaking voluntarily decides to allow the inspection, it will not be able to change its decision later. If a formal decision has been made by the TCA, undertakings must allow the inspectors to conduct the dawn raid. Those concerned are obliged to provide copies of information, documents, books and other instruments requested by TCA representatives.

During the inspection, the undertaking is responsible for preventing interference with the data being inspected as well as with the environment where the data is stored. Employees must provide full and active support in matters regarding IT systems when so requested by the TCA's officials. For example, the undertaking will be under certain obligations, such as providing information about the software and hardware related to the information technologies used, providing system administrator privileges, enabling remote access to the email accounts of the undertaking's personnel, isolating computers and servers from the network environment, limiting the access of users to their corporate accounts and restoring backed-up corporate data.

Finally, in 2021, the TCA published its Guidelines on the Examination of Digital Data during On-Site Inspections. This clarifies the powers of the inspectors and the item that can be inspected. It also encompasses the importance that the undertaking shall prevent any interference with the data and is obliged to provide full support on matters requested by the inspectors. It is seen that the TCA places importance on these principle since penalties for hindering the on-site inspections have come to the fore this year.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### **Refusal to cooperate**

What are the penalties and other consequences for refusing to cooperate with the authorities during an investigation?

Refusal to cooperate with the TCA may take the form of obstructing the inspection, making it difficult to perform the onsite inspection, or failing to duly respond to information requests. For obstructing an on-site inspection, the TCA may impose an administrative fine of 0.5 per cent of the undertaking's annual gross revenues of the preceding financial year, whereas, in the case of failing to respond duly to information requests or providing false information, the TCA may impose an administrative fine of 0.1 per cent of the undertaking's annual gross revenues of the preceding financial year.

One of the most significant decisions of the TCA regarding the obstruction of a dawn raid is the TTNET decision taken in 2013, where it was found that an employee deleted certain documents during a dawn raid, which led to the TCA imposing a fine of 15,512,258 lira, corresponding to 0.5 per cent of the TTNET's turnover.

Additionally, the TCA through its Unilever decision dated 7 November 2019, ruled to impose an administrative fine against Unilever amounting to 0.5 per cent of its turnover in Turkey in 2018 due to hindrance of the on-site inspection. One of Unilever's employees stated that they needed to consult Unilever Global for permission regarding the examination, and the permission required for the inspection through eDiscovery was obtained at 5.45pm, delaying the inspection by approximately 7.5 hours.

In its Siemens decision in November 2019, when the TCA's case handlers intended to carry out an inspection within specific dates and using keywords concerning the email accounts of all of Siemens employees during a dawn raid, Siemens employees stated that Siemens Global's permission would be required to initiate the inspection. Since the



authorisation was not obtained during the on-site inspection, the inspection was not carried out on that day. However, Siemens contacted the TCA six days after the on-site inspection and stated that Siemens was searching for ways to grant the TCA access so it may perform the requested inspection and proposed a procedure for an on-site inspection. The on-site inspection was eventually conducted on 2 October 2019. The TCA concluded that the benefit expected from the on-site inspection could not be obtained because of the inability to use eDiscovery, even though the email accounts of the company employees, which were considered to be related to the file subject claims, were not available. In this respect, the TCA imposed two different administrative fines on Siemens: the first being by 0.5 per cent of Siemens' annual gross revenue that was generated by the end of 2018 financial year, and the second being 0.05 per cent of Siemens' annual gross revenue generated in 2018 for each of the 12 days between 3 October 2019 (the date following the day of conduct) and 15 October 2019 (the date of enabling the TCA to conduct an on-site inspection) (12 multiplied by 0.05 per cent of the annual gross revenue). Finally in 2020, Groupe SEB was also fined 0.5 per cent of its turnover in Turkey in 2018 for hindering the on-site inspection that took place in the end of 2019.

Moving back to failing to respond duly to information requests, for instance, in its Poultry decision in March 2019, the TCA resolved to impose fines corresponding to 0.1 per cent of the previous year's turnover on Bakpilic for failure to provide requested information and documentation as part of an investigation and Tad Pilic for providing false or misleading information.

In 2022, the TCA issued conflicting decisions concerning the hindrance of on-site inspections. As a result, it appears that TCA is uncertain as to which circumstances justify the hindrance of on-site inspections. For instance, the TCA conducted two separate on-site inspections of Hepsiburada, a multi-category e-commerce company, as part of two distinct investigations. However, the TCA found that Hepsiburada's actions constituted a violation in only one of the investigations, despite the fact that the hindrance of on-site inspections appears to have been the same in both cases.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### SETTLEMENT

#### Settlement mechanisms

Is there any mechanism to settle, or to make commitments to regulators, during an investigation?

A settlement mechanism was introduced within the amendments made to Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (the Competition Law) in 2020.

After initiating an investigation, the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) may, on the request of parties concerned or on its own initiative, start the settlement procedure, considering the procedural benefits that may arise from a rapid resolution of the investigation process and the differences in opinion concerning the existence and scope of the infringement.

Before issuing a notification of the investigation report, the TCA may come to a settlement with the undertakings, and associations of undertakings, under investigation that acknowledge the existence and scope of the infringement. As a result of the settlement procedure, a discount of up to 25 per cent may be applied to an administrative fine.

Where an investigation concludes with a settlement, the parties to the settlement may not take the administrative fine and the provisions of the settlement text to court. In other words, the parties to the settlement cannot appeal the settlement in the administrative court.

It should be noted that the settlement mechanism can also be applied to violations other than cartels. The secondary legislation regarding the settlement mechanism has been adopted in July 2021. As for relevant case law, the Turkish Philips decision constitutes the first example of the settlement practice in Turkish competition law after the amendments to the Competition Law as of June 2020.

The commitment procedure was incorporated into the Competition Law with the amendments of June 2020.



Accordingly, the TCA can decide to end an investigation without an infringement decision, if the undertaking under investigation voluntarily submits commitments to eliminate the competition concerns. Both the TCA and the investigated undertakings quickly adapted to this new but long-awaited procedure. On 16 March 2021, Communiqué No. 2021/2 on Commitments for Preliminary Investigations and Investigations on Anticompetitive Agreements, Concerted Practices, Decisions and Abuse of Dominant Position which clarifies the rules and procedure to be followed in commitment decisions, came into force. According to the Communiqué, investigated undertakings can submit their willingness to propose commitments within three months following their receipt of the investigation notice. According to the Communiqué specifies that anticompetitive information exchange and resale price maintenance are considered as hardcore restrictions alongside price fixing, territory/customer sharing and supply restriction agreements between competitors. Exclusion of information exchange agreements and resale price maintenance from the commitment procedure's scope may narrow down the suitable cases to a great extent. The commitment procedure is providing opportunities to the TCA and undertakings under investigation to effectively remedy alleged infringements of the Competition Law at an early stage, without the need to allocate resources for lengthy investigations.

In the Singer decision, an investigation was opened on the grounds that Singer's practices in the sewing machine supply market violated articles concerning 'anti-competitive agreements, concerted practices and decisions' and 'abuse of dominant position'. Singer, due to its position, simultaneously applied for the settlement (for resale price maintenance) and the commitment procedures (for non-compete clause).

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Impact of compliance programme

What weight will the authorities place on companies implementing or amending a compliance programme in settlement negotiations?

The TCA case law on settlement procedures is not clear yet, but it may take existing competition compliance programmes into consideration during a settlement procedure.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Corporate monitorships

Are corporate monitorships used in your jurisdiction?

Corporate monitorships are not used in Turkey.

Law stated - 03 March 2023

#### Statements of facts

Are agreed statements of facts in a settlement with the authorities automatically admissible as evidence in actions for private damages, including class actions or representative claims?

Although the TCA case law on settlement procedures is not clear yet, agreed statements of facts in a settlement with the TCA might be admissible as evidence in actions for private damages.



#### **UPDATE AND TRENDS**

#### **Recent developments and future reforms**

What were the key cases, decisions, judgments and policy and legislative developments of the past year? Are there any proposals for competition law reform in your jurisdiction?

After the publication of the preliminary sector inquiry report, the Turkish Competition Authority (TCA) issued the final report on e-marketplace platforms. The report analysed the dynamics of the sector, prominent e-marketplace business models both in Turkey and worldwide, as well as consumer and seller profiles in the market. It also identified possible competition problems. The final section of the report focused on revising the policy recommendations made in the preliminary report to address the competition concerns identified by the analyses, findings, observations, and assessments made in the preliminary report. In this context, the policy recommendations were revised and finalised, taking into consideration the changes and developments in the sector.

In March 2022, the TCA published another final report on the fresh fruits and vegetables sector. The study sought to highlight the reasons for price volatility and structural problems in the agricultural sector by comparing them to similar instances across the world. Additionally, the report called for the restructuring of producer unions and cooperatives for agricultural products and the implementation of agricultural policies and production planning.

In March 2022, Turkish merger control underwent significant changes through the adoption of Communiqué No. 2010/4. The changes, which include increased turnover thresholds for transactions that require TCA approval, as well as special rules for tech companies, became effective on 4 May 2022. Additionally, an amendment to the Regulation on Fines was published in the Official Gazette to provide a uniform approach for determining annual gross revenue, taking into account the varying practices of undertakings.

In addition to the previous investigation, which scrutinised 48 undertakings for their alleged involvement in gentleman's agreements regarding the transfer of employees, the TCA initiated a similar investigation in 2022 against seven undertakings that provide information technology services. The aim of this investigation was to assess the same allegations. Furthermore, the TCA recently announced a reasoned decision regarding the labour market, which sheds light on the TCA's stance on assessing gentleman's agreements. In the decision, the TCA found that gentleman's agreements entered into by private hospitals have the potential to prevent competition based on a variety of evidence.

In addition to labour-related investigations, the TCA also investigated the fast-moving consumer goods sector. The TCA imposed fines totalling 878.6 million Turkish lira on suppliers for facilitating coordination among Turkey's five biggest supermarket chains to fix prices, following the record fine of 2.7 billion lira in 2021.

Additionally, the TCA has increasingly relied on settlement and commitment procedures, which are adapted from European competition law, to conclude many investigations. With seven investigations concluded through commitments and 34 investigations terminated via settlement, this demonstrates that not only does Turkish competition law follow European competition law, but it also actively incorporates its mechanisms.

Lastly, the Draft Amendment to Law No. 4054 on the Protection of Competition (Draft Amendment) has been prepared by the TCA. The key points of the Draft Amendment concern:

- introducing definitions of core platform services into Law No. 4054 and allowing the possibility to introduce regulations on the conduct of certain undertakings offering these same services;
- determining the new obligations to be imposed on the undertakings holding significant market power in core platform services;
- monitoring and auditing compliance with these obligations; and
- providing certainty regarding the sanctions to be imposed in case the relevant undertakings fail to comply with the obligations.





### Jurisdictions

Belgium	Fieldfisher
China	Zhong Lun Law Firm
European Union	O'Melveny & Myers LLP
Finland	Eversheds Sutherland (Finland)
Greece	Law Offices Papaconstantinou
Japan	Mori Hamada & Matsumoto
+ Switzerland	Niederer Kraft Frey
C* Turkey	ACTECON
United Kingdom	Winston & Strawn LLP
USA	Winston & Strawn LLP

